Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-23-2014

Franklin Building Supply Co v. Hymas Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41041

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is a case wherein Franklin Building Supply Company, Inc. (also hereinafter referred to as "Franklin Building Supply") commenced on October 4, 2011 an action against Aaron Michael Hymas (also hereinafter referred to as "Hymas"). The basis of the action was to seek recovery of an enormous amount of money on an open account, namely, \$753,159.55 together with interest continuing to accrue at \$331.22 per diem from and after September 30, 2011. (*Clerk's Record on Appeal* "R", p.7, §6) The defendant filed an Answer to the Complaint on February 2, 2012. (*R*, pp.9-10) Defendant's Answer was a general denial of the action and included the Affirmative Defense that the statute of limitations had run with respect to this obligation.

B. Course of the Proceedings

The action commenced with the Complaint dated September 3, 2011, filed on October 4, 2011 by Franklin Building Supply Company, Inc. (R, pp. 6-8) The defendant's Answer to Complaint dated February 1, 2012 was filed on February 2, 2012. (R, pp. 9-10) Subsequent thereto, on October 29, 2012, a Motion for Summary Judgment was filed by the plaintiff (R, pp. 11-12) and, in support of such, an Affidavit of Richard C. Pietrucci was filed on October 29, 2012, which included exhibits as attachments. (R, pp. 13-51) Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit was an Application for Credit; Exhibit "B" was a Continuing Guaranty' Exhibit "C"

was a list of invoices and invoices that were claimed to be still outstanding and needed to be paid. Plaintiff also filed a Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment at the same time. (R, pp. 52-58)

Defendant's Response to Motion for Summary Judgment was filed on December 4, 2012. (*R*, pp. 59-61) Attached thereto was Defendant's First Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents and the Notice of Service of Discovery (*R*, pp. 62-69) which, at that point, had not been responded to. Such discovery had been outstanding since April 12, 2012. Subsequent thereto, on December 6, 2012, Plaintiff filed a response to Defendant's Response to the Motion for Summary Judgment. (*R*, pp. 70-84)

On January 14, 2013, a hearing was held with respect to the Motion for Summary Judgment, and the Court granted summary judgment. (*Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings "Tr"*, p. 20, Ll. 8-9) Before summary judgment was ever entered, the plaintiff had filed a Motion to Correct Calculation of Amount Claimed Owed Plaintiff on January 22, 2013. (*R*, pp. 85-89) In support of the Motion, it included an Affidavit of Joey Enochson in Support of Plaintiff's Motion. (*R*, pp. 90-92) Thereafter, Defendant filed his Motion and Memorandum to Reconsider Judgment on February 8, 2013. (*R*, pp. 93-96) It was supported by the Affidavit of Aaron Hymas filed on that same date. (*R*, pp. 97-99) Also filed on February 8, 2013 was a Motion to Shorten Time. (*R*, pp. 100-101) It appears from the record that it was never acted upon. On February 11, 2013 plaintiff filed an Objection to the Motion to Shorten Time and an Affidavit of David M. Swartley in support of such. (*R*, pp. 102-108.) On that same day, plaintiff

filed a Response to Defendant's Motion to Reconsider Judgment (*R*, pp. 109-122) and an Affidavit of David M. Swartley in Support of the Response. (*R*, pp. 123-136)

On February 21, 2013, defendant Hymas filed his Reply to Plaintiff Franklin Building Supply Company's Response to Defendant's Motion to Reconsider Judgment with Exhibits A-E included therein (R, pp. 137-155). More specifically, Exhibit "A" was six random invoices that were provided by the plaintiff as part of its discovery responses to the defendant; Exhibit "B" was an application in which the plaintiff relied upon in order to claim that the defendant as guarantor was liable; Exhibit "C" was the Articles of Dissolution of Crestwood Construction, Inc. dated February 11, 2005; Exhibit "D" was Articles of Incorporation of Crestwood, Inc. dated February 11, 2005; and Exhibit "E" was a Certificate of Assumed Business Name of Crestwood Construction, Inc. dated April 6, 2005. On February 26, 2013, the Plaintiff filed an Objection and Motion to Strike Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Motion to Reconsider Judgment. (R, pp. 156-158) On March 5, 2013, a Notice Re: Affidavit of Aaron Hymas in Support of Motion to Reconsider was filed. The Notice stated that Plaintiff's response to discovery was not attached to the fax-filed Affidavit of Aaron Hymas in Support of Motion to Reconsider dated February 7, 2013, and was then being attached thereto, namely, Plaintiff's Responses to Defendant Aaron Michael Hymas' First Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents dated December 5, 2012. (R, pp. 159-167) On April 5, 2013, by its Memorandum Decision the Court granted summary judgment to Franklin Building Supply Company, Inc. and also denied the Motion to Reconsider. (R, pp. 168-175)

An Amended Judgment was entered by the Court on April 8, 2013. (*R*, pp. 176-177) An Affidavit of Aaron Michael Hymas was filed on April 26, 2013 (*R*, pp. 178-180); subsequent thereto, since it appeared that Exhibits A-E had not been attached to the initial affidavit, an Amended Affidavit of Aaron Michael Hymas was filed on April 30, 2013 to which Exhibits A-E were attached, which were the same exhibits as noted above. (*R*, pp. 181-198) Plaintiff filed on May 13, 2013 a Response to Defendant's Motion to Reconsider Amended Judgment Dated April 8, 2013 and the Memorandum Decision Issued April 5, 2013 (*R*, pp. 199-211) and the Affidavit of David M. Swartley in support of that Response (*R*, pp. 212-216).

On May 17, defendant Hymas filed a Motion to Reconsider Amended Judgment Dated April 8, 2013 and the Memorandum Decision Issued April 5, 2013. (*R*, pp. 217-218) (Summary of proceedings - *R*, p. 219). Ultimately the Court denied such Motion (*R*, pp. 228-229) from which a Notice of Appeal was filed on May 20, 2013 (*R*, pp. 220-223). An Amended Notice of Appeal was filed on June 4, 2013. (*R*, pp. 224-227) A Second Amended Notice of Appeal was filed on July 3, 2013 to change the name of the reporter. (*R*, pp. 230-233) (Notice of Transcript Lodged - *R*, p. 234).

This matter is now before this Court for determination on appeal.

C. Concise Statement of the Facts

Franklin Building Supply Company, Inc. claimed that prior to agreeing to provide materials and goods to Crestwood Construction, Inc., a Credit Application was prepared and signed by Justin Walker and Aaron Hymas. The Credit Application in question provided, among

other things, that the parties who were authorized to purchase were listed in Part G, namely, Chris Georgson, Justin Walker and Aaron Hymas. In addition, a Continuing Guaranty was also signed by Justin Walker and Aaron Hymas. Because of the failure to pay invoices which commenced on, as best as can be determined, on December 22, 2006. It was for goods which were allegedly provided by Franklin Building Supply to Crestwood Construction, Inc. The action was initially brought against Aaron Hymas for goods sold during the latter part of 2006 and went through sometime in the middle of 2007. It appears from looking at the Affidavit of Richard C. Pietrucci filed October 29, 2012, that the invoices in question for which the plaintiff seeks to collect appear to be on twenty (20) different accounts. (*R*, pp. 23-51) In each case, there is a single page per invoice for the different accounts except on pages 49 and 50, which is a summary of invoices.

When summary judgment was filed in this matter, the response was (1) that the statute of limitations had occurred, and (2) that without supporting information as to the invoices amount, it would be difficult, if not impossible, to determine whether the amount claimed to be owed by the plaintiff was in fact owed. This was also further enhanced by the fact that the Credit Application provided the names of the authorized purchasers and, in order to prevail in a summary judgment, it must be demonstrated that the invoices in question were authorized by one of the three authorized purchasers.

Furthermore, the Plaintiff indicated that he had not received the Request for Production of Documents dated April 12, 2012, as evidenced by the Notice of Service in the

discovery which was attached. The discovery attached and provided, among other things, that there was a request for production of a copy of all documents that Franklin Building Supply intended to use as exhibits in the trial of this matter. Subsequent thereto, but unbeknownst to the counsel for the Defendant, the documentation was in fact received. This receipt of documents occurred prior to the argument of the summary judgment matter.

The Court granted summary judgment to the Plaintiff. After which, the Court granted summary judgment orally but no written order was issued. The only ruling was an oral ruling from the Court. Immediately thereafter on January 22, 2013, a Motion to Correct Calculation of Amount Claimed Owed Plaintiff and an Affidavit in support of such.

Thereafter, Defendant filed a Motion and Memorandum to Reconsider Judgment. It was stressed that the information was not available at the time that the Defendant responded to the summary judgment. The responses were then reviewed by the Defendant and discovered that none of the invoices were signed and, since there were many different accounts, there was no indication that the invoices were ever delivered to Crestwood Construction, Inc. Furthermore, the Answers to Interrogatories indicated that those invoices would be used as evidence in the trial. At the hearing on February 27, 2013, it was discovered that Plaintiff's responses to discovery (with the exception of the CD referred to therein) that were to have been attached to the fax-filed Affidavit, were not attached. Therefore, on March 5, 2013 the Court requested that the Plaintiff provide, among other things, invoices for materials ordered by the Defendant and delivered to the Defendant's job sites that the Plaintiff intended to use at trial.

An additional motion was filed to bring to the Court's attention that on February 8, 2005 the corporation of Crestwood Construction, Inc. was dissolved effective as of December 31, 2005. (*R*, p. 196) After which, Crestwood, Inc. was formed and then used the assumed business name of Crestwood Construction, Inc. In other words, an additional issue of fact arose, namely, the dissolution of Crestwood Construction, Inc. and a new entity altogether doing business after February 11, 2005. It is important to note that initially, when the Complaint was filed in this matter, it was seeking for payment on an open account, not on the personal guaranty. That is the reason why the Answer to the Complaint indicated that the Statute of Limitations had run. After that, the action changed from that of collecting on a personal account to collecting on a guarantor, which would have changed the Statute of Limitations from four years to five years meaning that the transaction in question was, in fact, not barred by the Statute of Limitations.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appeal from an order of summary judgment is reviewed by the Court under the same standard used by the trial court in ruling on a motion for summary judgment. *Purdy v.*Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho, 138 Idaho 443, 445, 65 P.3d 184, 186 (2003). Under that standard all facts are to be construed liberally in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party. *Id.* Summary judgment is only appropriate if the pleadings, depositions, admissions, and affidavits on file, show that there is no genuine issue relating to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*

If there is no disputed issues of material fact, then the Court exercises free review over the remaining questions of law. *Id*.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. The Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment When it Failed to Require More Evidence Than the Opinion of a Witness as to the Amount Without More Supporting Documentation.
- B. The Court Erred When it Allowed the Judgment to be Amended to Include Interest.
- C. The Court Erred When it Denied the Defendant's Motion to Reconsider.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment When it Failed to Require More Evidence Than the Opinion of a Witness as to the Amount Without More Supporting Documentation.

The relevance of all of such is that Franklin Building Supply was attempting to collect on a guaranty a very large debt, specifically, approximately \$700,000. In attempting to collect that debt, it filed a Motion for Summary Judgment with an Affidavit that merely provided a summary and then an amount for each of the twenty accounts and totaled them as to bring about the claim that was owed. An affidavit supporting a motion for summary judgment must be made on personal knowledge and show that the affiant is competent to testify to the material contained therein. Idaho R. Civ. P. 56(e). The Rule further states that the "court may permit affidavits to be ... opposed by depositions, answers to interrogatories, or further affidavits." *Id*.

In this case, Rule 56(e) raises two issues. First, since the amount in question was based upon invoices, the Court should have granted the defendant the opportunity to depose the affiant who filed the Affidavit in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. Second, nothing in the Affidavit in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment indicates that Mr. Pietrucci (the affiant) has personal knowledge that the items listed on the Customer Transaction Report actually correspond to goods that were actually delivered to Defendant. Defendant should have been allowed to opportunity to depose Mr. Pietrucci, so that it could be determined whether in fact each of the summaries of open accounts, twenty in nature, were in fact all incurred by Crestwood Construction, Inc. The Court declined to do so. Also, no evidence was presented that would indicate the Mr. Pietrucci in fact personally knew if those invoices corresponded to items actually delivered to Crestwood Construction Inc., or to some other entity. A further issue of fact arises because the Credit Application required that only certain people were authorized purchasers, namely, Chris Georgson, Justin Walker and Aaron Hymas. No evidence was presented to show that, in fact, had occurred. If the contents of an affidavit could not be within the affiant's personal knowledge they are not cognizable under Rule 56(e). Resource Engr., Inc. v. Nancy Lee Mines, Inc., 714 P.2d 526, 528 (Idaho App. 1985). Thus, in this case summary judgment was not appropriate since the Defendant was not given the opportunity to depose the affiant and no supporting evidence was provided that the affiant had personal knowledge relating to the invoices relied upon to determine the amount Defendant owed.

Furthermore, the Request for Production of Documents included that the Court should consider the invoices since, ultimately, the responses of the Plaintiff would be used at trial. It is hard to understand while they were not used in the summary judgment, but felt they were needed in trial. Rule 56 states that summary judgment is only appropriate when there are no genuine issues of material fact in the case. Idaho R. Civ. P. 56(c). However, the invoices (which were not considered at summary judgment) give rise to some factual issues. First, the information contained in the invoices is particularly important since they refer to 20 different accounts at 10 or 20 different locations and no evidence was provided showing that the Defendant did in fact receive those items listed on the invoices. Second, there is the addition issue of whether in fact the alleged purchases were authorized by one of the three individual authorized to do so. By not having fleshed out these facts, the trial court left some material factual disputes dangling, which should be addressed by a trier of fact.

Added to all of that is what effect, if any, it had on the Credit Application for the personal guaranty of the Defendant that Crestwood Construction, Inc. was dissolved. Said dissolution having occurred before it appears any of the charges at issue here were incurred and after the credit application was signed. Thus, a new entity, Crestwood Inc., was formed, which is altogether a different entity than Crestwood Construction, Inc. Crestwood Inc., then began using the assumed business name of Crestwood Construction, Inc. In other words, there was no credit application filed with respect to the existing entity and, thus, no guaranty of the obligation. Furthermore, it is important to note that as one looks at the different invoices (R, pp. 23-51), the

invoices were all in the name of Crestwood Construction, and Aaron Hymas did not guaranty Crestwood Construction but only Crestwood Construction, Inc. Thus creating an addition factual issue and another reason why the trial court erred by granting summary judgment. Thus looking at the amount of money at issue in this case (over \$700,000) there are significant material facts in disputes which would justify this matter being tried.

B. The Court Erred When it Allowed the Judgment to be Amended to Include Interest.

When summary judgment was sought, it was sought for the original amount and the Court granted that amount. Thereafter, it was improper for the Court to allow that amount to be corrected and add the interest. Once that interest was added, it should have been added only at the contract rate of 12% and not 18%. Idaho Code § 28-22-104.

C. The Court Erred When it Denied the Defendant's Motion to Reconsider.

In addition to what has previously been demonstrated, additional issues were in fact presented to the Court. Specifically, showing what the Plaintiff's Production of Documents provided and additional information that should have suggested to the trial court the genuine issues of material fact existed and it should not have granted summary judgment in the matter.

V. ATTORNEY FEES

Since this is a commercial transaction, the Court should grant attorney fees under Idaho Code § 12-120.

VI. CONCLUSION

This case should be remanded in its entirety to the District Court to determine the correct amount of the indebtedness of Defendant, for Franklin Building Supply to show that a debt is in fact owed by Crestwood Construction, Inc., and if Aaron Hymas is in fact a guaranty of that particular debt.