Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-20-2014

Franklin Building Supply Co v. Hymas Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41041

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The record establishes that Franklin complied with the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure throughout the litigation of this case. Likewise, the District Court correctly applied the Rules in deciding this case. Hymas, on the other hand, completely ignored the Rules by filing untimely motions and attempting to introduce facts through briefing rather than sworn affidavits. Franklin cannot fathom why Hymas continually and repeatedly ignored the Rules of Civil Procedure, but Hymas' reasoning is not relevant to this appeal. What is relevant is that Hymas has not created a question of material fact, and the District Court's decision should be upheld.

A. The District Court Correctly Entered Summary Judgment in Favor of Franklin and Denied Hymas' Motion for Reconsideration.

Hymas' appeal essentially revolves around whether the District Court correctly awarded summary judgment to Franklin, and if so, whether the District Court correctly denied Hymas' Motion for Reconsideration. Since Hymas only submitted one admissible affidavit,⁸ this case primarily turns on whether the Pietrucci Affidavit sets forth a prima facie case.

1. Standard of Review.

The Idaho Supreme Court "reviews appeals from an order of summary judgment *de novo*, and the 'standard of review is the same as the standard used by the trial court in ruling on a motion for summary judgment." *Stonebrook Const., LLC, v. Chase Home Finance, LLC,* 152 Idaho 927, 929, 277 P.3d 374, 376 (2012) (citing *Curlee v. Kootenai Cnty. Fire & Rescue,* 148

⁸ As discussed in Section IV., B, below, Franklin disputes that the Second Hymas Affidavit was properly before the District Court.

Idaho 391, 224 P.3d 458 (2008)). Summary judgment is proper if "the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). When applying the standard set forth in Rule 56(c), the Court construes disputed facts "in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are drawn in favor of the non-moving party." *Curlee*, 148 Idaho at 394, 224 P.3d at 461. "However, to survive summary judgment, 'an adverse party may not rest upon mere allegations or denials of that party's pleadings, but the party's response, by affidavits or as otherwise . . ., must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." *AED, Inc., v. KDC Investments, LLC*, 155 Idaho 159, 163, 307 P.3d 176, 180 (2013) (citing I.R.C.P. 56(c)). "Therefore, 'the nonmoving party must submit more than just conclusory assertions that an issue of material fact exists." *Id.* (citations omitted). "A mere scintilla of evidence or only slight doubt as to the facts is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact for purposes of summary judgment." *Id.* (citations omitted).

This case also involves the District Court's denial of Hymas' first Motion for Reconsideration. When reviewing a "trial court's decision to grant or deny a motion for reconsideration, this Court utilizes the same standard of review used by the lower court in deciding the motion for reconsideration." *Fragnella v. Petrovich*, 153 Idaho 266, 276, 281 P.3d 103, 113 (2012). Therefore, "when reviewing the grant or denial of a motion for reconsideration following the grant of summary judgment, this Court must determine whether the evidence presented a genuine issue of material fact to defeat summary judgment." *Id*.

2. Franklin made a prima facie showing on summary judgment.

In order to make a prima facie case for breach of contract, Franklin must prove "(a) the existence of the contract, (b) [Hymas'] breach of the contract, (c) the breach caused damages, and (d) the amount of those damages." *Mosell Equities, LLC, v. Berryhill & Co., Inc.*, 154 Idaho 269, 278, 297 P.3d 232, 241 (2013).

Franklin filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on October 29, 2012. (R. pp. 11-12). In support of its Motion, Franklin filed the Pietrucci Affidavit. (R. p. 13). Hymas did not file a single affidavit in response to Franklin's Motion, (Tr. p. 7, ll. 8-13), but Hymas did submit a response brief questioning whether Franklin had met its burden under Rule 56(c). (R. pp. 59-60). Based upon this defense, the District Court was correct in awarding summary judgment to Franklin if Franklin met its burden of proof under Rule 56(c).

Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 56(e) states, "Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein." I.R.C.P. 56(e). "A trial court has the discretion to decide whether an affidavit offered in support of or opposition to a motion for summary judgment is admissible under Rule 56(e)." *Esser Electric v. Lost River Ballistics Technologies, Inc.*, 145 Idaho 912, 917, 188 P.3d 854, 859 (2008). Further when a party does not object to the admissibility of an affidavit, a district court

-

⁹ Hymas' response also asserted a statute of limitations defense, (R. p. 59), which Hymas has since withdrawn. (Appellant's Brief, p. 7) (this lawsuit is "not barred by the Statute of Limitations"). Hymas also does not raise the statute of limitations as an issue on appeal, (*Id.* at p. 8), or otherwise argue the statute of limitations in his Appellant's Brief. (*See generally id.*)

will "not err in relying upon it when granting [a] motion for summary judgment" even if the "affidavit does not comply with Rule 56(e)." *Id.* at 917-18, 188 P. 3d at 859-60.

Keeping the aforementioned rules in mind, the Pietrucci Affidavit begins with an affirmation that the affiant is the Corporate Credit Manager of Franklin, and that he has "personal knowledge of the matters stated" in the affidavit. (R. p. 13). The Pietrucci Affidavit then attaches the Credit Application and Continuing Guaranty that Hymas executed. (R. pp. 13, 16). The Pietrucci Affidavit finally provides that: (1) both Crestwood and Hymas failed to pay for materials Franklin supplied; and (2) Franklin was damaged in the exact principal amount of \$671,667.05 due to Hymas' breach of guaranty. (R. p. 14). The affidavit concludes by attaching Franklin's "Transaction Reports showing the amounts billed by Franklin to Crestwood . . ., the dates when invoiced, and the total amount due." (R. pp. 14, 22-51).

It is clear that Pietrucci Affidavit fully complies with rule 56(e). The affidavit was made on personal knowledge and establishes that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters contained in the affidavit. The affidavit also sets forth facts that would be admissible at trial. The District Court was therefore correct in relying upon the Pietrucci Affidavit in deciding Franklin's Motion for Summary Judgment. *Esser Electric*, 145 Idaho at 918, 188 P.3d at 860. More importantly, Hymas never objected to the Pietrucci Affidavit, which conclusively establishes that the District Court did not err in relying upon the affidavit. *Id*.

The Pietrucci Affidavit also clearly establishes a prima facie case. The contracts at issue were attached to the affidavit, and the affiant testifies that the contracts were breached due to Hymas not paying for the materials ordered by and supplied to Crestwood. Finally, the affidavit,

both via testimony and exhibits, establishes the precise amount of those damages. As the District Court correctly found: "The plaintiff has made a prima facie case here for the existence of a contract – that being the guarantee – and the existence of underlying debt and the amount of the underlying debt." (Tr. p. 19, ll. 10-14). Summary judgment was therefore properly entered in favor of Franklin.

3. Hymas did not show a genuine issue for trial.

Since Franklin established a prima facie case, "the burden shifts to [Hymas] to show that a genuine issue of material fact" exists. *Venters v. Sorrento Delaware, Inc.*, 141 Idaho 245, 250, 109 P.3d 392, 397 (2005). To show that a genuine issue of material fact exists, Hymas "may not rest upon the mere allegations or denial of his pleadings, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise . . ., must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." *Id.* (citing I.R.C.P. 56(e)).

Hymas does not comply with the rule set forth in *Venters* because Hymas fails to "set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." Instead, Hymas attempts to argue that Franklin did not establish a prima facie case. Hymas makes this argument through four general points: (1) that Hymas should be allowed the opportunity to depose the affiant of the Pietrucci Affidavit; (2) that the Pietrucci Affidavit is insufficient; (3) that Franklin did not timely respond to Hymas' discovery requests; and (4) allegations related to the corporate status of Crestwood. (Appellant's Brief, pp. 8-10). Arguments one through three will be addressed immediately below. Argument four, however, is addressed in Section IV., B.

a) Hymas should not be granted the opportunity to depose the affiant of the Pietrucci Affidavit.

There are numerous problems with Hymas' argument that he should be granted the opportunity to depose the affiant of the Pietrucci Affidavit, the first of which being that Hymas did not identify this as an issue on appeal.

"This Court has quite consistently adhered to the principle that an issue not raised below will not be considered when raised for the first time on appeal." McNeil v. Gisler, 100 Idaho 693, 696, 604 P.2d 707, 710 (1980). Here, there is no doubt that Hymas did not move for a continuance to depose the affiant of the Pietrucci Affidavit. In fact, at the hearing on Franklin's Motion for Summary Judgment, the District Court stated on two separate occasions that Hymas failed to file a Rule 56(f) motion for continuance. (Tr. p. 9, ll. 14-17; Tr. p. 18, ll. 2-6). Hymas' counsel never questioned these statements by the District Court. (See Tr. pp. 12-16). Hymas cannot now truthfully assert that he asked the District Court for a Rule 56(f) continuance. Since Hymas "did not ask the district court for a continuance under Rule 56(f) . . . it is therefore too late to assert that he needed more time to respond." Stapleton v. Jack Cushman Drilling and Pump Co. Inc., 153 Idaho 735, 742, 291 P.3d 418, 425 (2012).

In the event that Hymas argues that he made a Rule 56(f) motion for continuance below, such argument would fail based upon the express language of Rule 56(f), which provides:

> When affidavits are unavailable in summary judgment proceedings.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 14 473241

¹⁰ This in itself is sufficient to uphold the District Court's decision.

Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that the party cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify the party's opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just.

I.R.C.P. 56(f) (emphasis added). Rule 56(f) clearly requires as a condition precedent that an affidavit be filed showing why the party requesting the continuance could not present facts essential to his or her position. Here, Hymas did not file any affidavits in response to Franklin's Motion for Summary Judgment, let alone an affidavit supporting a purported motion for continuation. Any argument that the District Court erred by not granting Hymas a continuance is therefore misplaced.

Finally, even assuming without conceding that Hymas properly asserted a motion for continuance, it must be noted that the "decision to grant or deny a Rule 56(f) continuance is within the sound discretion of the trial court." Taylor v. AIA Services Corp., 151 Idaho 552, 572, 261 P.3d 829, 849 (2011). "A trial court does not abuse its discretion if it (1) recognizes the issue as one of discretion, (2) acts within the boundaries of its discretion and applies the applicable legal standards, and (3) reaches the decision through an exercise of reason." Johannsen v. Utterbeck, 146 Idaho 423, 429, 196 P.3d 341, 347 (2008). The District Court in this case, when presented with Hymas' purported continuance, stated: "I do not have a Rule 56(f) motion to continue the hearing pending further discovery. If I had one, I'd be inclined to decline - to deny it, given the amount of time that has passed in this case." (Tr. p. 18, 11. 2-6). This

statement shows that the District Court clearly did not abuse its discretion. Accordingly, even if Hymas properly filed a motion for continuance, such motion was appropriately denied.

For each reason set forth above, it is respectfully submitted that this Court reject Hymas' argument that he be granted the opportunity to depose the Pietrucci Affidavit affiant.

b) The Pietrucci Affidavit was sufficient under Rule 56.

Hymas attacks the sufficiency of the Pietrucci Affidavit by arguing (1) that the Pietrucci Affidavit is not based upon personal knowledge, and (2) that the Pietrucci Affidavit is deficient because it does not prove that "authorized purchasers" ordered the materials provided by Franklin. (Appellant's Brief, pp. 8-9). Neither of these arguments creates a question of fact.

A "moving party is not required to negate the nonmoving party's claim." See Chandler v. Hayden, 147 Idaho 765, 770-71, 215 P.3d 485, 490-91 (2009) ("'Placing an initial burden on the plaintiff to 'disprove every affirmative defense asserted against it' has several practical effects, none of which appear . . . to be helpful in promoting the speedy and economical disposition of non-viable issues."') (quoting GECC Financial Corp. v. Jaffarian, 79 Hawai'i, 516, 904 P.2d, 540 (Ct. App. 1995)) (citations omitted). Furthermore, in order to show a genuine issue of material fact, Hymas must submit more than just conclusory assertions and a "mere scintilla of evidence or only slight doubt as to the facts is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact." AED, Inc., 155 Idaho at 163, 307 P.3d at 180.

Hymas' arguments in relation to the Pietrucci Affidavit are an attempt to turn the well-settled law set forth in *Chandler* and *AED* on its head. Hymas did not move to strike or otherwise challenge the Pietrucci Affidavit, which conclusively establishes that the District Court did not err

in relying upon the affidavit. *Esser Electric*, 145 Idaho at 917, 188 P.3d at 859. Hymas also admits that Crestwood "received products from Franklin." (R. p. 94). Hymas never denied that Crestwood failed to pay for the materials it received. (R. p. 94). Hymas also never challenged the amount owed. These facts and admissions establish that the District Court was correct in awarding summary judgment to Franklin.

Hymas' argument regarding the sufficiency of the Pietrucci Affidavit is both legally and factually incorrect. Under Rule 56(e), affidavits "shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the mattes stated therein." I.R.C.P. 56(e). The Pietrucci Affidavit fully complies with this rule because it includes an affirmation that the affiant is the Corporate Credit Manager of Franklin and that he has "personal knowledge of the matters stated" in the affidavit. (R. p. 13). Nothing more is legally required of the Pietrucci Affidavit under Rule 56. More importantly, the District Court relied upon the Pietrucci Affidavit in ruling on Franklin's motion for summary judgment, which determination is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Gem State Ins. Co. v. Hutchison*, 145 Idaho 10, 15, 175 P.3d 172, 177 (2007). Since Hymas has not challenged whether the District Court abused its discretion, the District Court's reliance on the affidavit was proper.

Despite the fact that the Pietrucci Affidavit meets the legal requirements of Rule 56, Hymas somehow argues that nothing in the Affidavit "indicates that Mr. Pietrucci (the affiant) has personal knowledge that the items listed on the Customer Transaction Report actually correspond to goods that were actually delivered to" Crestwood¹¹ and that the Affidavit failed to demonstrate "that the invoices in question were authorized by" Chris Jorgensen, Justin Walker, or Hymas. (Appellant's Brief, p. 9). These statements ignore the affirmation contained in the Affidavit (discussed above), basic contract law, and law holding that Franklin is not required to negate Hymas' claims.

To establish a prima facie case, the Pietrucci Affidavit only had to set forth (1) the existence of a contract, (2), its breach, and (3) damages. *Mosell Equities, LLC*, 154 Idaho at 278, 297 P.3d at 241. Franklin met this burden by filing an affidavit setting forth each *Mosell* element, including the amount Franklin claimed was due. If Hymas believed he was not liable to Franklin for some reason, including that the purchases were not authorized, Hymas must present and support his defenses. Moreover, the burden of any defense lies with Hymas, not Franklin. *Chandler*, 147 Idaho at 771, 215 P.3d at 491. Here, Hymas never denied that \$671,667.05 worth of materials was provided to Crestwood. Hymas did not challenge that either he or Crestwood paid any monies to reduce this amount. Hymas did not identify a single invoice that was not due. Hymas also never entered any facts in the record questioning whether the invoices were properly authorized. Hymas instead offered only purely speculative statements supporting his claims, such as: Crestwood "had many issues with framers and other subcontractors calling [Franklin] and ordering products." (R. p. 98). These self-serving statements lack "the specificity necessary to establish that improper charges exist on the account guaranteed." (R. p. 172).

_

¹¹ This is similar to Hymas' argument below wherein he argued that the Pietrucci Affidavit was deficient because it did not include certain unidentified "supporting information" establishing that the work was done. (R. p. 60). Hymas later admitted that Franklin delivered material to Crestwood. (R. p. 94). By this admission, Hymas

Hymas' attempts to establish a question of fact based upon the Pietrucci Affidavit are misplaced. Hymas never objected to the Pietrucci Affidavit, and the District Court rightfully relied upon it in awarding summary judgment to Franklin. The Pietrucci Affidavit also fully complied with Rule 56 and set forth a prima facie case. The burden then shifted to Hymas to show a genuine issue of material fact, which he did not do. Hymas instead relies upon pure hyperbole and conjecture. This is simply not sufficient under Rule 56.

c) Franklin's discovery responses are a red herring.

Several times in his Appellant's Brief, Hymas mentions Franklin's alleged untimely responses to his discovery requests. To the extent that Hymas believes Franklin's discovery responses are sufficient to overturn the District Court's decision, this argument is a red herring.

Hymas served his discovery requests or April 12, 2012. (R. pp. 68-69). Thereafter, Hymas' counsel notified Franklin's counsel that discovery responses would not be necessary due to a number of reasons, including the fact that Hymas was involved in bankruptcy adjudication and multiple civil and criminal lawsuits. (R. p. 80). At no time did Hymas seek to compel Franklin to respond to discovery. In fact, the first time Hymas mentioned his discovery requests was in response to Franklin's Motion for Summary Judgment on December 3, 2012. (R. p. 60).

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